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Loggers on Bird Run, a tributary to Knapps
Creek, cutting timber for the Warn Lumber
Corporation. The company's mill was located at
Raywood.

The Shay locomotive was the workhorse of

many a lumber company. The engines in this
photo were Nos. 1 and 7 of the North Fork Lumber
Company.

The Shay locomotive was an amazing piece of
machinery. The transmission of power to all of the
wheels by gears gave these engines great power
and the ability to ascent grades of well over 8%,
steeper than the traditional steam locomotive
could handle. They also had flexible connections
between each set of wheels which gave the engines
the ability to operate on the rough, crooked track
of a logging railroad. However, their top speed was
only about 12 miles per hour.

Similar locomotives used for logging railroads
were the Climax and the Heisler.

Photo of Camp Seneca, CCC camp that was
cated near the headquarters of Seneca State
Forest. ‘l'hl camp was opemd in June 1933 and



View of the arks that were the sleeping and eating
quarters for the men on the log drives on the
Greenbrier River. An ark was also provided for

horses.

Sawmill of the Warn Lumber Company at
Warntown, near Mill Point.

Typical home for the men cutting timber,
location unkown.

Track workers on a logging railroad. The men
in this, picture are typical of the foreign born track
workers employed by the lumber companies in this
area, lItalians, Hungarians, and Austrians. Few, if
any, settled locally, moving on to other jobs in
other areas when the lumber operations in the
Greenbrier Valley closed.

" the trees whispered above me and trembled

for timber rang out over the land, |'

they had been there for thousands of years T

and feared the pain of the axeman's hand ...."
.. . J r o A




The history of the lumber history in the Greenbrier Valley can be
divided into at least three periods based on the dominent form of the way
logs were moved from woods to mill. The first was from the 1870's to
1908 and involved the use of water to move the logs. This period can also
be referred to the as the White Pine Era since this was the timber cut,

The location of the white pine along the Greenbrier River and its major
tributaries and the buoyancy of the tree allowed it to be harvested before a
railroad was built into Pocahontas County. The principal operator of the
white pine was the St. Lawrence Boom and Manufacturing Company. This
company was organized in 1871 and located its mill at Ronceverte. "Boom"
refers to the company's authority to place structures in the river that
catch floating logs. The first use of the river by the St. Lawrence company
to transport logs may have been in 1872, again in 1874, and without
guestion in 1876. The logs for the 1876 "drive" on the river were cut on
Sitlington Creek in Pocahontas County.

From this beginning a pattern was set for the next 30+ years. In the
late summer lumber camps would open and the cutting of the white pine (and
some hemlock) would begin. By late winter the logs would be piled along the
banks of the creeks, waiting for the high water. To move the logs to the
river, "splash dams" were constructed to hold water that was released as
needed to supplement the natural flow.

When the high waters came, the logs were floated to Ronceverte. If
the lumbermen were lucky, the logs might in the boom in a few days. If the
water fell too soon, the logs would be stranded and it was necessary to wait
for the next "tide" in the river. In only one year, 1894, did the water fail
completely and most of the logs went to the boom the next year.

To provide facilties for feeding and housing the loggers during the
drive, "arks" were constructed and floated behind the logs. An ark was also ~

provided for horses used to pulled beached logs back into the river.

The Williams River was also used to transport logs. Drives of timber
cut in Pocahontas County about 1895 and lasted until at least 1903. The
logs went 1o a mill at Camden-on-Gauley in Webster County.

The river was also used to transport lumber. From very early in the
history of Pocahontas County, a number of sawmills existed, usually as a
part of the equipment at a grist mill. However, the production was limited
and no more than was needed locally. Also, there was no way to transport
the distant markets due to the very rudimentary road system.
War the use of steam powered sawmills increased lumber
~and the rallroad at Ronceverte provided access 10 markets.
he lumber to the railroad was still a problem and, as with logs, the

the means of tran mumm'und‘l 0's,
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The lumber industry in Pocahontas County changed significantly with
the construction of a railroad into the county. Many plans for a railroad into
the Upper Greenbrier Valley were made after the Civil War. The timber was
a known asset and there were hopeful beliefs that other resources, such as
ijron ore, were available in quantity in the valley. In the early 1890's it
seemed the hopes of many (but not all) residents of Pocahontas County for
a railroad was about to become reality. However, the economic recession in

1893 brought railroad plans to a halt.
Finally, in 1899, work actually began on a railroad into Pocahontas

County, the Greenbrier Division of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railway. The
main reason for the construction of the new rail line was the location of a
new paper mill at Covington, Virginia, by the West Virginia Pulp and Paper
Company (today's Westvaco) and the company's purchase of timber land on
Cheat Mountain in Pocahontas County to provide wood for pulp. The
projected traffic that would be provided by the paper company in the form
of pulp wood as well as lumber, gave the C&O justification to invest in the

branch line.
Leaving the main line east of Ronceverte, the Greenbrier Division

(briefly referred to as the Greenbrier Railway) was completed to Marlinton
and Cass in late 1900, to Durbin in 1902, and to Winterburn in 1905. The
Coal and Iron Railway (later Western Maryland) was completed from Elkins to

Durbin in 1903.
With the railroads came the "boom" period in Pocahontas County

history. Lumber companies, ranging from the immense operation of the
West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company at Cass, to those with small portable
mills, located along the C&0 and C&I to began the harvest of the county's
timber. The larger companies also established towns to provide housing and
the community needs of their employees.

During this period, the means of bringing the logs from the woods to
the mills was railroads. Except for the very smallest logging operations, the
lumber companies operated railroads. By the time the boom was over, in

,' the late 1920's, there had been a logging railroad up almost every stream in
~ the county to bring out the timber. The most commonly used motive power
~ on the logging railroads was the Shay geared steam locomotive, such as
- used on the Cass Scenic Railroad today. (However, the Cass engines are
jer th '!llpll used on most of the county's logging railroads.) Horses
sed to bring the cut logs to loading points along the railroads.

the timk umu\om the county saw an influx of
1 from Pwmlwnﬁwmtm as well as
cular m,mwm




Hemlock bark was used in the process of tanning leather and the large
of hemlock was the reason for two tanneries to locate in

Pocahontas County in 1904.

A totally accurate count of the mills that were operated in Pocahontas
County in this period is not possible, but excluding the strictly portable mills
that remained on a site for only a brief time before being moved to another
location, the number is about 41 (see the map on the wall behind you and to

- your right).

By 1930 the boom was over and the initial cutting of the county's
timber, which had started with the white pine in the 1870's, was completed.
There was no virgin timber remaining. With only two exceptions, the average
life span of a lumber operation in the county was ten years or less. The mill
at Boyer operated to the late 1920's and the Cass mill until 1960. The two
tanneries had a longer life span, closing in 1970 (Marlinton) and 1994
(Frank). Going with the mills were the towns that were established by the
lumber companies, most without a trace visible today. (The portion of
Marlinton known as Campbelltown was a mill town and retains the look
today.)

With the Great Depression during the 1930's and the elimination of the
original forests by that time, the lumber industry was almost a thing of the
past in Pocahontas County. Some of the cut-over land was badly damaged
by severe fires in the mid-1930's. However, the natural curative powers of

nature, aided by the establishment of the Monongahela National Forest and
the work of the Civilian Conservation Corps, have restored the forest of the
county to a healthly condition. Today, the county has considerably smaller,
but more stable lumber industry. Railroad logging in the county ended with
the closure of the Cass mill in 1960. The horse is also gone from the woods,

both replaced by motor vehicles.







™he band mill of the Wam Lumber Company,
located on Stamping Creek near Mill Point. In
size of mill. 50.000 feet daily capacity, and

years of operation, 1905 - 1913, the Warn opera-
gion was typical of lumber companies in Poca-

hontas County large enough to operate a band
~ sawmill

" The company cut its timber on the headwa-
s of M River, including the area around
ranberry Glades, and Hills Creek, above the
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usually each time the water was up in the river, lumber was put together
o rafts and floated to Ronceverte. Many things could go wrong in the ten
1o 13 hour trip and the pilot of the raft had to know every rock, rapid, shoal,
and current at all levels of water.

The few photos that exist today cannot begin to indicate what it must
have ke to take part in a log drive or handle a raft of lumber in the high
water of the Greenbrier River.

The construction of the Greenbrier Division of the C&O Railway in 1899-
1900 brought an immediate end to shipping lumber by the river. The log
drives continued for a few more years, with the logs coming out of Knapps

Creek. Finally, in 1908 an fascinating part of the history of Pocahontas
County came to an end with the last log drive down the river.

T




Following the war the decline in traffic resumed. Passenger service
ended on January 8, 1958, and freight service was reduced over the years
from daily to one train a week in 1974, The closings of the Cass mill in 1960
and the Marlinton tannery in 1970 made the line's future doubtful. In 1975
the C&0 requested permission from the Interstate Commerce Commission to
abandon the line. Authority to abandon was granted in 1978 and the last
trans ran on December 27 and 28.

~ The right-of-way was donated by the railroad to the state of West
Vitginia.  The section between North Caldwell and Cass has become the
Greenbrier River Trail.

The Western Maryland line into Durbin operated for a short time longer
- but in 1984 it was also abandoned.
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Greenbrier Division of the Chesapeake and Ohia Rallway

Tha Greenbrier Division was the branch line of the Chesapsake and
Ohle Rallway that served the Greenbrier Vailey of Greenbrisr and
Pocahontas Counties Unlike most CAO branch lines in Wast Vv reinia
which were buill into the coal producing areas of the state. (ha G.ugr;h,,d,
line was constructed 1o provide transportation for the davelopment of the
vasl lumber resource in the valley This timber was wall known in the
post Civil war pariod, but protected from harvest by a lack of
transportation. The white pine was removed, beginning in 1874, by use
the river, but most ol the timber required rail service to be harvesied

There warea numerous plans to build rallroads into tha Greaenbriar

of

Valley in the years following the Civil War but it required the completion
of the C&O across the state in 1873 and actions by the Wast Virginia Pulp
and Paper Company in the late 1880s to get a railroad constructed into the

valley. The paper company built a new paper mill at Covington, Virginia,
and acquired timber land on Cheal Mountain to provide the needed pul

=d puip

wood. These events gave the CAO promise of sufficent business 1o cause
it to justity the building of its Greenbrier Division.
Censtruction starled in July 1899 and the track was completed to

WVPEPCo.'s new lown of Cass in Decamber 1900. Shipmant ol pulpwood
began in January 1801 and the Cass sawmill began operation a year later
Construction on the line continued and was compleled to Durbin In 1902
and to Winterburn, on the East Fork of the Greenbrier, in 1805. Final
length was 100.98 miles. Al Durbin a junction was made in 1903 with the
Coal and Iron Railroad (later parl of the Westarn Maryland Railway).

Hauling the production from the numerous sawmills and Iwo
lanneries thal were quickly located along the new rallroad and serving the
new sawmill towns, the exisling communities, and the agricullure
industry of the valley made the Greenbrier Division a busy one for freight
and passengers. Passenger service was provided by two trains daily each
way.

By the early 1820s the original timber in the vallay had almosl all
bean cut and trucks and automobiles were beginning to impact rallroad
traffic. However, this decade was one of the busiest on the line. As local
traffic decreased, the CRO bsegan using the Greenbrier line as part of a
new routing for shipments of freight between easlarn and weslern cities.

The Depression saw the end of the through trains and the closing of
almost all remaining on-line industries. Passenger service was reduced
to one traln each way in 1930 and the Bartow-Winterburn seclion was

abandoned in 1933.

The World War |l period was the final busy years on the Greenbrier
line. Trains of through freight cars returned and warime restrictions
brought people back to the passenger trains.

Following the war, the decline in traffic resumed. Passenger
service ended on January 8, 1958, and freight service was reduced over
thé years from dally to one train a week in 1974. The closings of the Cass
mill in 1960 and the Marlinton tannery in 1970 made the line's future
doubtiul, In 1975 the C&O requested permission from the Interstate
Commarce Commission to abandon the line. Authority to abandon was
granted in 1978 and the last trains ran on December 27 and 28.

Tha right-ol-way was donated by the railroad to the State of West
Virginia.  The section between North Caldwell and Cass has become the
Graenbrer River Trall,

The Western Maryland line into Durbin operated for a short time
longer but In 1084 it also was abandoned.

-
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| Greenbrier Division of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railway | |

The Greenbrier Division was the branch line of the Chesapeake and Ohio
Rallway that served the Greenbrier Valley of Greenbrier and Pocahontas
Counties. Unlike most C&Q branch lines in West Virginia, which were build
into the coal producing areas of the state, the Greenbrier line was
constructed to provide transportation for the development of the vast

" timber msources in the valley. This timber was well known in the post Civil
War period, but protected from harvest by a lack of transportation. The
white pine was removed, beginning in 1874, by using the river to move logs to
a sawmill in Ronceverte, but most of the timber required rail service to be
harvested.

There were numerous plans to build railroads into the Greenbrier Valley
in the years following the Civil War but it required the completion of the C&0
across the state in 1873 and actions by the West Virginia Pulp and Paper
Company in the late 1890s to get a railroad constructed into the valley, The
paper company built a new paper mill at Covington, Virginia, and acquired
timber land on Cheat Mountain to provide the needed pulp wood. These
events gave the C&0 promise of sufficient business to cause it to justify the
building of the Greenbrier Division.

Construction started in July 1899 and the track was completed to
WVP&PCo's new town of Cass in December 1900. Shipment of pulpwood
began in January 1901 and the Cass sawmill began operation a year later.
Construction on the rail line continued and was completed to Durbin in 1902
and to Winterburn, on the East Fork of the Greenbrier, in 1905. Final length
was 100.96 miles. At Durbin a junction was made in 1903 with the Coal and
Iron Railroad (later part of the Western Maryland Railway).

Hauling the production from the numerous sawmills and two tanneries
that were quickly located along the new railroad and serving the new sawmill
towns, the existing communities, and the agricultural industry of the valley
made the Greenbrier Division a busy one for freight and passengers.
Passenger service was provided by two trains daily each way.

By the early 1920s the original timber in the valley had almost all been
cut and trucks and automobiles were beginning to impact railroad traffic.
However, this decade was one of the busiest on the line. As local traffic
decreased, the C&O began using the Greenbrier line as part of a new routing
for shipments of freight between eastern and western cities.

The Depression saw the end of the through freight trains and the
closng of almost all the remaining on-line industries. Passenger service was
reduced to one train each way in 1930 and the Bartow-Winterburn section
was abandoned in 1933,

The World War Il period was the final busy years on the Greenbrier line.
Trans of theough freight cars returned and wartime restrictions brought
people back 10 the passenger trains. _
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ed per 1 from the Interstate Commerce Commission to
yrier Branch. Authority to abandon was granted in 1978
_trm:mnnnmnbarr?wza
~ The right-of-way was donated by the railroad to the state of West
> nia. The section between North Caldwell and Cass has become the
WMTTGIL
The Western Maryland line into Durbin operated for a short time longer
but in 1984 it was also abandoned.




Greenbrier Division of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railway

The Greenbrier Division was the branch line of the Chesapeake and Ohio
Railway that served the Greenbrier Valley of Greenbrier and Pocahontas
Counties. Unlike most C&0 branch lines in West Virginia, which were build
intoc the coal producing areas of the state, the Greenbrier line was
constructed to provide transportation for the development of the vast
timber resources in the valley. This timber was well known in the post Civil
War period, but protected from harvest by a lack of transportation. The
white pine was removed, beginning in 1874, by using the river to move logs to

a sawmill, but most of the timber required rail service to be harvested.
___ There were numerous plans to build railroads into the Greenbrier Valley
i ~“in the years following the Civil War but it required the completion of the C&0
pe” across the state in 1873 and actions by the West Virginia Pulp and Paper
Company in the late 1830s to get a railroad constructed into the valley. The
paper company built a new paper mill at Covington, Virginia, and acquired
timber land on Cheat Mountain to provide the needed pulp wood. These
events gave the C&0 promise of sufficient business to cause it to justify the

building of the Greenbrier Division.

Construction started in July 1899 and the track was completed to
WVP&PCo's new town of Cass in December 1900. Shipment of pulpwood
began in January 1901 and the Cass sawmill began operation a year later.
Construction on the rail line continued and was completed to Durbin in 1902
and to Winterburn, on the East Fork of the Greenbrier, in 1905. Final length
was 100.96 miles. At Durbin a junction was made in 1903 with the Coal and
Iron Railroad (later part of the Western Maryland Railway).

Hauling the production from the numerous sawmills and two tanneries
that were quickly located along the new railroad and serving the new sawmill
towns, the existing communities, and the agricultural industry of the valley
made the Greenbrier Division a busy one for freight and passengers.
Passenger service was provided by two trains daily each way.

By the early 1920s the original timber in the valley had almost all been
cut and trucks and automobiles were beginning to impact railroad traffic.
However, this decade was one of the busiest on the Greenhrier it line. As
local traffic decreased, the C&0 began using the Greenbrier line as part of a
new routing for shipments of freight between eastern and western cities.

The Depression saw the end of the through freight trains and the
closing of almost all the remaining on-line industries. Passenger service *.':ras
reduced 1o one train each way in 1930 and the Bartow-Winterburn section
was abandoned in 1933. .

The World War Il period was the final busy years on the Greenbrier line.
Trains of through freight cars returned and wartime restrictions 4%

people back 1o the passenger trains.
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?‘f"‘ LOUISE McNEILL PEASE
as 1911 - 1993
k- Poet. Author of Mountain White, Gauley
Mountain, Time s Our House, Paradox Hifl,
3 Elderberry Flood, The Milkweed Ladies, Hill
ousd Daughrer, and New and Selected Poems.
Named West Virginia Poet Laureate in 1977.

: Log home of Josiah Beard, first County Clerk of Pocshontas
County. It was built 1824 - 1828 and located near the present
Locust Creek bridge. The home was torn down in 1930,

\1
| L. C. Smith Manual
Typewriter
Model 8, about 1925
& Company began as  Smith  Premier

Typewriter Company in 1886. Reorganized as

L. S. Smith and Brother Typewriting Company
r in 1903. In 1926 LSS&B united with Corona
: Typewriter Company to form Smith Corona.

Roger & Sue Helton

Handmade Ceramic Bowl

Anna Price Hunter
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Gav. Cecil Underwood rode the rails and led the
wers o the Cass Centennial Celebration Friday, Rail worker Junior

Indarwood rides into town on Shay Engine No.
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| By WAYNE SHEKETS
Stafl Writer
| Swresgsing  how the histore
own of Cass and s Cass Sceni
Railroad State Park have helped
boost the economy of the area,
Gy, Cecil Underwood headed a
long list of dignitaries who spoke
al the Cass Centennial
Celebration opening ceremonies
Friday
Antiving by heheopter in the
area, Underwood went
immediately to the Cass Sceni
Railroad maintenance shops and
was transported into town aboard
Shay Engine Na. 11. The gover
LS remarks touched on many
cubjects, but the thrust of his
speech centered on the impor-
tance of the timber industry n
and around Pocahontas County.
He closed his remarks by pre
senting the director of Cass
Volunteer Fire Department,
Darrell Turner, with a $25.000
grant for capital improvements
for the fire department and emer-
gency services facility
Among other speakers was
John A. Luke. retired lormer
president and CEO of Westvaco
Corp., who currently serves as an
active member of Westvaco's

Cass

Justice Department Still
Wants Microsoft Split
Into Two Companies

Iy FUN-KYUNG KIM
Assochated Press Writer . 4
WASHINGTON (AP} — The lustice Department, i & filing 4o
toderal pudge today, pushed anew 10 have soltware grant Micn
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Cass

The

Continued From Page | Sage” and “Tumult on the

board of directors. He is a Mountains,” Phil Bagdon who The Wall T
descendent of the Luke family wrote “Essential Cass” and “The l_c at_ i

from Scotland who brought the Cass Roster.” George Deike, ‘;;,P "‘:.“ ?
carly technology of making Who wrote “Logging on South Eli% mfg 0"'(
paper from wood 1o America in  Cheat,” and Dr. Bob Alexander, I::::a&m
the late 1800s. Luke summa- Who is currently researching the F F '.':
rized the history of the company history of Cass for a documen- mﬁﬂ t::ul
started by his ancestors in the tary, and Harry Duncan, author ke di'ls :
Chts ates of “"Do I Want to go Home,"” quC isplayis
At that time, the company was  Were there (o greet visitors and The Wall
called The West Virginia Pulp autograph their books. : WO Witat 1
and Paper Co. According to _ Janet Wells, representing mmﬁ&

Luke, the family sold the compa-  Sistersville Tank Works~ of A
0 Mower Lumber Co. of Sistersville, was in attendance. uﬁhm
in 1942 Luke now Wells' company built a replace- {5160
4 pessdies in New Canaan, Conn. ment boiler for the Heisler No. 6 )

Engine that is currently being Of the win
rebuilt at the Cass maintenance
. The boiler, the first to be

He o marmed and has four chil-

ndgearnadoss Rﬁ.ﬂ Mower, rep- butlt in West Virgini # 50 = .
the cars, is at the wan ‘
mzc..mpuy y Bt *"‘hl ones 3




‘0. According to
I.:‘:t’::rp'}:nflh sold the compa-
ay to Mower Lumber Co, of
Charleston in 1942 I,uhn‘nnw
ressdes in New Canaan, Conn
MHe 1« marmed and has four chil
dren

Third  generation logging
isdustnialist Roger Mower, rep-
resenting the company that
pueed the Cass mills and other
sppont opeorations from 1942
wnty! they ceased operations on
Pame W0 1980, also reminisced
abhogtt the hastory of has family's
buamess. According to Mower,
ey wodd what s now Cass
Scemee Raslroad State Park to the

state of West Vieginia in 1963
Oeber  speakers  included
Sepermtendent of Watoga State
Parh Paerach Cally’ M{ﬂ'urd?‘-_
“8o served 2 master of cere-
mome and Ken
shoef for

ety

Juaney *raas,

ll.'.!l\...t\..ug....

Sistersville Tank Works« of WA 3
Sistersville, was in attendance x. A
Wells' company built a replace- ©!5 of the
ment boiler for the Heisler No. 6  Pelow th
Engine that is currently being OF the «
rebuilt at the Cass maintenance ©PPosin
shops. The boiler, the first to be .
built in West Virginia in 50
years, is at the shop waiting
installation on the engine.

Officials noted that the

$400,000 boiler was paid for by
funds from the bond projects
alluded o by McCurdy in his

introductory remarks of
Underwood.
After the opening ceremony

was concluded, walking tours of
the town were conducted by
guides dressed in attire of the
carly 1900s. From noon to 1
m.. Mike Bing and Brown
aggers, back from a tour of




Shoemaker,

of

Tammy
woman

an overview of the activities that
followed the opening ceremony
Shoemaker and her staff of eigt
apent theee years organizing the
cPswrmnsal
Onber motables attending the
celebwatvon included state Sen
Mike Ross, D-15th District,
Mowse of Delegates Majornity
Leader Joe Marun, D-17th
Disarct, and Pocahontas County
Commumoner Rita Gnffith
Artale Coodman, greatl., greal
mixe of Ephram Shay, the

senaor of the Shay Engine was
e o hasdd o groet visstons
Al presest were West Vieginia

chair-
the Centennial
Planning Committee, also gave

.04 Py, PpPassCnger traimm
departed for Whittaker Station

At Whittaker, passengers could
view a replica of a logger's camp
set up by the Mountain State

Logging and Historical
Association. At 3 pm., a log

chopping demonstration was
conducted by members of the
Cougar family and Mel Lantz of
Webster County. These world
champion choppers demonstrat-
ed the laborious job the “wood
hicks” of the mountain had and

the stamina required of them 1o
do their job.

At 7 p.m., John Carpenter of

Gaylax, Va., performed a song

he wrote especially for the occa-

sion. The titled “Shay.” is
ory
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